Public Document Pack

AYLESBURY VALE DISTRICT COUNCIL Democratic Services

Please ask for:Bill Ashton; bashton@aylesburyvaledc.gov.uk;Switchboard:01296 585858Text RelayPrefix your telephone number with 180014 April 2016Prefix your telephone number with 18001



CABINET

A meeting of the **Cabinet** will be held at **6.30 pm** on **Tuesday 12 April 2016** in **The Olympic Room, Aylesbury Vale District Council, The Gateway, Gatehouse Road, Aylesbury, HP19 8FF**, when your attendance is requested.

NOTE: There will be an informal session starting at 6.15 pm to give Members the opportunity to comment on issues on the Agenda. The press and public may attend as observers.

Membership: Councillors: N Blake (Leader), S Bowles (Deputy Leader), J Blake, A Macpherson, H Mordue, C Paternoster and Sir Beville Stanier Bt

Contact Officer for meeting arrangements: Bill Ashton; bashton@aylesburyvaledc.gov.uk;

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES

2. MINUTES (Pages 3 - 8)

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March attached as an Appendix.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members to declare any interests.

4. AYLESBURY VALE ESTATES BUSINESS PLAN (Pages 9 - 16)

Councillor Steve Bowles Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economic Development Delivery

To consider the information attached.

Contact Officer: Teresa Lane (01296) 585006

5. AVDC COMPANY GOVERNANCE (Pages 17 - 56)

Councillor Howard Mordue Cabinet Member for Finance, Resources and Compliance

To consider the attached information.

Contact Officer: Andy Barton (01296) 585430



6. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

The following matter is for consideration by Members "In Committee". It will therefore be necessary to

RESOLVE -

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the Paragraph indicated in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act: -

Item 7: Aylesbury Vale Estates Business Plan (Paragraph 3)

The public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information because the report contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of organisations (including the Authority holding that information) and disclosure of commercially sensitive information would prejudice negotiations for contracts and land disposals or transactions.

Restricted reports

7. AYLESBURY VALE ESTATES BUSINESS PLAN (Pages 57 - 116)

Councillor Steve Bowles Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economic Development Delivery

To consider the information attached.

Contact Officer: Teresa Lane (01296) 585006

Agenda Item 2

CABINET

8 MARCH 2016

PRESENT: Councillor N Blake (Leader); Councillors J Blake, A Macpherson, H Mordue, C Paternoster and Sir Beville Stanier Bt.

IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors C Adams, Hewson and Stuchbury.

APOLOGY: Councillors S Bowles

1. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of 9 February, 2016, be approved as a correct record.

2. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING REGENERATION POLICY

Under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order, 2002, local authorities could adopt policies that enabled local discretionary spend of disabled facilities grants (DFG) budgets, (in addition to the provision of the mandatory DFG scheme outlined in in the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act, 1966), as well as discretionary grant and loan schemes to regenerate private sector housing stock in their area.

Cabinet considered a report which summarised the existing private sector housing grant and loan schemes currently offered by AVDC and suggesting additional and alternative schemes that might be adopted to better enable regeneration of the private sector housing stock in the Vale. The policy focussed particularly on assisting target groups of residents including older people and vulnerable groups (e.g. those on low incomes living in poor quality housing). It also suggested the provision of a landlord loan scheme to help improve conditions in rented private sector housing stock.

It was reported that national, regional and local policies and objectives provided AVDC and its partners with a broad strategic framework within which to work. These included a focus on growth and investment in the private sector as key to increased choice, access and better standards.

Government had advised that it was important that the private rented sector was seen as an attractive alternative to owner occupation and had recommended a number of measures to improve and develop the sector. These included simplifying the regulatory framework, raising standards by providing councils with increased flexibility to enforce housing law, regulating agencies, longer tenancies and increased housing supply.

The suggested new policy focussed on the provision of grants and loans to support private sector housing regeneration. Alongside this, AVDC used enforcement powers under the Housing Act, 2004, to raise standards in the private rented sector and to deal with rogue landlords. AVDC also operated mandatory and additional licensing schemes for houses in multiple occupation which aimed to improve standards and protect vulnerable tenants living in this type of housing stock. The Private Sector Housing Regeneration Policy sat below, and contributed to, the objectives outlined within the AVDC Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2014-17. Private sector housing stock included houses in private ownership and occupation as well as privately rented properties. The private housing sector played a valuable role in the housing market in the Vale, comprising 61,500 of the 77,000 total dwellings in the Vale. At the time of the last stock condition survey in 2007, 16.8% of private sector housing stock did not meet a "decent" standard.

Poor housing conditions in the Vale were associated with households in social and economic disadvantage. This affected the ability of households to repair and improve their dwellings. At the time of the survey, 25.6% of all households living in non decent housing were elderly. Economically vulnerable households accounted for 33.8% of all households living in non decent housing. In the private rented sector, 39% of vulnerable households were living in non decent housing.

Aylesbury Vale had an aging population with increasing numbers of people living with a long term illness or disability. At the last census in 2011, 68,000 people in Buckinghamshire reported having a limiting long term illness or disability (an increase of 12.4% from the previous census). There was a significant link between housing quality and health. Factors such as damp and mould, overcrowding and excess cold were associated with long term conditions such as heart disease, stroke, respiratory disease and mental illness as well as an increased risk of mortality.

To use the powers contained within the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order, 2002, the local authority had to adopt and publish a policy setting out how the powers would be used. The Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2014-17 and the Private Sector Housing Regeneration Policy fulfilled this obligation. The Order contained important protections relating to the giving of assistance, whether it was given as a grant, loan or another form of help.

Currently AVDC offered the following private sector grant or loan assistance:-

- Minor works grant up to £2,500.
- Mandatory disabled facilities grant up to £30,000.
- Empty homes loan.
- Flexible home improvement loan (FHIL).

It was felt that the Minor Works grant should be replaced by an Essential Repairs Grant of up to £10,000. In addition, the following grants and loans would be offered alongside the mandatory DFG, Empty Homes Loan and FHIL:-

- Discretionary DFG top-up of up to £20,000.
- Relocation Grant up to £30,000.
- Urgent Hospital Discharge Adaptations Grant up to £10,000.
- Landlord Loan Scheme up to £10,000.

In summary, DFG funding was provided jointly via the Better Care Fund at Buckinghamshire County Council and AVDC capital spend budgets.

Since 2011/12, there had been a year on year underspend of AVDC capital funds on mandatory DFGs. The reasons for this were not due to decreased demand (in fact there was an increasing demand for DFGs) but were in part due to the lack of flexibility

AVDC currently had available to meet the differing needs of applicants and facilitate the spend of the budget.

In future years it would be imperative that AVDC had flexibility and discretion within the grants process to facilitate spend and ensure that vulnerable tenants in private sector housing were able to access support. The proposed policy set out an increased range of discretionary grant and loan proposals to better meet the needs of those in the relevant target groups. This would require some re-allocation of capital funding.

The introduction of additional discretionary grants alongside the mandatory DFG would increase the range of grant options available and allow AVDC to better tailor grant support to meet individual needs. It was proposed that mandatory DFG funds and AVDC capital funds allocated for DFG spend be maintained in one budget stream, funding mandatory DFGs, Discretionary DFG Top-up, Relocation Grants and Hospital Discharge Urgent adaptation Grants.

In order to provide a reasonable level of funding for the new Essential Repairs Grants, it was agreed that in addition to the £30,000 budget previously allocated to Minor Repairs Works, £50,000 of the capital funding allocated to DFGs should be re-assigned to Essential Repairs Grants, increasing the total grant funding available to £80,000. In addition it was felt that the historical £100,000 capital fund underspend should be used to establish a landlord's loan scheme. Accordingly, it was,

RESOLVED -

- (1) That the contents of the Private sector Housing Regeneration Policy be noted.
- (2) That approval be given to a discretionary approach to the spend of the DFG budget to widen the grant schemes that were available from solely Mandatory DFG to Mandatory DFG, Relocation Grants, Discretionary DFG Top-up and Urgent Hospital Discharge Adaptations Grants.
- (3) That approval be given to the re-allocation of £100,000 underspent capital budget to set up a landlord loan scheme in the Vale.
- (4) That approval be given to the establishment of an Essential Repairs Grant (to replace Minor Works Grants) and to the allocation of £50,000 of capital budget spend towards this scheme.

3. WATERSIDE NORTH

Cabinet considered a report seeking approval to the appropriation of the land at Waterside North (Phase 1) from its existing car parking use to use for town planning purposes to enable Phase 1 of the project to proceed. The purpose of the appropriation, which would be made pursuant to Section 122 of the Local Government Act, 1972, would be to engage section 237 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990, which would convert any third party rights, which might otherwise inhibit redevelopment, into a right to compensation which the Council would then be required to meet. A plan showing the land concerned was appended to the Cabinet report. The report to Cabinet also highlighted the outcome of an independently commissioned Rights of Light Survey and how any such claims might be dealt with.

Following a successful public consultation undertaken in the Summer of 2014, outline planning permission had been granted for the redevelopment of land within the Council's ownership at Exchange Street Car Park, to provide a mixed use scheme of up to five new café/restaurant units on the ground floor, with apartment accommodation on three levels above, and a new public square (Ref: 14/01794/AOP).

Page 5

Following a tender exercise to find a development partner for the delivery of Phase 1 of the Waterside North scheme, full Council had approved the appointment of Durkan as its development partner to build out the scheme and to take a 150 year ground lease of the residential element on completion of the development. The land, which currently remained in the Council's ownership, was being taken out of its existing use as a temporary car park and its proposed redevelopment would promote and improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of Aylesbury town centre.

Cabinet was advised however that there were third party rights affecting the land which, if the land was not appropriated for planning purposes, might otherwise inhibit the carrying out of the proposed redevelopment. A detailed examination of the Council's titles had been carried out to identify third party rights insofar as these were documented. A physical examination had also been carried out to identify any subsisting third party rights which might not have been documented. A Rights of Light Survey had also been carried out, the details of which were included in the confidential section of the Cabinet report.

Notwithstanding the appropriation, officers would continue to take all possible steps to identify all third party rights affected by the appropriation and seek negotiated solutions which, so far as was reasonably possible, would minimise any detriment to the enjoyment of any affected properties.

Section 122 of the Local Government Act, 1972, enabled a principal council to appropriate for any other authorised purpose any land which belonged to the Council and which was no longer required for the purpose for which it had previously been held.

Section 237 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 (as amended) (Power to Override Easements and Other Rights), stated that the carrying out of building work or use of the land which had been acquired or appropriated by a local authority for planning purposes, was authorised if it was done in accordance with a planning permission notwithstanding that it involved interference with any third party right (other than rights belonging to public utilities).

Because the unilateral extinguishment of third party rights engaged the First Protocol of the Human Rights Convention (no-one shall be deprived of his possession except in the public interest), and Article 8 of the Convention (the right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Cabinet was required by the Human Rights Act, 1998, to have appropriate regard to those implications in any decision to appropriate. In this case it was not considered that the extinguishment of these third party rights would affect anyone's enjoyment of their home and any extinguishment of other third party rights could be adequately compensated in financial terms.

Engagement of Section 237 of the Town and Country planning Act, 1990, following appropriation of the land to planning under Section 122 of the Local Government Act, 1972, involved the Council in potential liability to financially compensate any third party suffering actual loss as a result of the extinguishment of their rights. Such compensation would be assessed by the Upper Tribunals Land Chamber if not agreed. As mentioned previously the details of the independently commissioned Rights of Light Survey were submitted as part of the confidential Cabinet agenda, including the financial implications. This information was taken into account in reaching the decisions referred to below.

RESOLVED -

(1) That pursuant to Section 122 of the Local Government Act, 1972, (as amended), approval be given with immediate effect, to the appropriation of the land shown

edged red on the plan attached to the Cabinet report from its existing use as a temporary car park and purposes associated therewith to use for town planning purposes to facilitate its redevelopment to provide a mixed use scheme of up to five new café/restaurant units on the ground floor, with apartment accommodation on three levels above and improvements to the public realm in accordance with an outline planning permission granted in February, 2015 under reference 14/1974/AOP or any other planning permission varying or replacing the same.

(2) That the position with regard to the Rights of Light Survey contained in the confidential section of the agenda be noted.

4. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVE -

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the Paragraph indicated in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act:-

Waterside North (Phase 1) : Rights of Light Survey (Paragraph 3)

The public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information because the report contained information relating to the financial or business affairs of organisations (including the authority holding that information) and disclosure of commercially sensitive information would prejudice negotiations for contracts and land disposals/transactions.

This page is intentionally left blank

AYLESBURY VALE ESTATES: UPDATE ON PERFORMANCE / BUSINESS PLAN Councillor Bowles

Cabinet Member for Economic Delivery and Major Projects

1 Purpose

1.1 To give Cabinet the opportunity to consider the draft business plan prepared by Aylesbury Vale Estates LLP (AVE). The Economy and Business Development Scrutiny Committee was given an opportunity to comment on the draft business plan at its meeting on 15 March, 2016.

2 **Recommendations/for decision**

2.1 That the draft business plan prepared by Aylesbury Vale Estates LLP be agreed.

3 **Executive summary**

3.1 By way of reminder, the Council and the Akeman Partnership set up AVE in 2009, following a competitive dialogue procurement, to manage, improve and develop the Council's commercial property portfolio and provide an income stream to the Council.

At its meeting on 15 March, the Economy and Business Development Scrutiny Committee received a report on AVE's draft business plan. A copy of that report is attached as an Appendix to this report. The Scrutiny Committee report included the draft business plan (which is attached to the confidential Cabinet agenda).

- 3.2 The Scrutiny Committee sought further information and in response to questions were informed as follows:-
 - That AVE compared their performance against the Investment Property Databank (IPD) which was the standard benchmark for investors to analyse the performance of property in the UK market. AVE's performance was consistently better than comparably managed properties.
 - The Committee received details of the work and measures that AVE were taking to mitigate market uncertainties.
 - That broadband had been upgraded to Rabans Close, with a view to attracting more higher end users.
 - That while AVE had not externally benchmarked its performance, there was no reason why this could not happen in the future, subject to shareholder agreement.
 - That AVE would be interested in investing/managing centres and general convenience facilities in Aylesbury, should the opportunity arise.
 - That AVE would look to identify investment opportunities to grow/diversify the portfolio and enhance its value, in particular, opportunities that might arise from the emerging Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan.
 - 3.3 Having commented on a number of specific issues relating to the confidential appendices, the Scrutiny Committee endorsed approval of the

draft business plan. However the Committee did ask for a further report on AVE's performance in six months time.

4 Alternative options

4.1 Cabinet might wish to make additional comments, although as indicated above, the Scrutiny Committee undertook a relatively comprehensive review and was supportive of the draft business plan overall.

5 **Resource Implications and Response to Key Aims and Objectives**

5.1 These have been summarised in the scrutiny committee report.

6 **Reasons for Recommendation**

6.1 The partnership business plan provides the framework within which the partnership board will operate.

7 Response to Key Aims and Objectives

Contact Officer	Teresa Lane (01296) 585006
Background Documents	None

AYLESBURY VALE ESTATES BUSINESS PLAN 2016

Teresa Lane

1 Purpose

1.1 To give the Committee the opportunity to consider a draft Business Plan prepared by Aylesbury Vale Estates LLP (AVE) for the 2016/2017 financial year and pass their comments on to Cabinet.

2 For decision

2.1 Whether the Committee wishes to make any comments on the draft Business Plans (set out at Appendices 1 – 4 in the confidential pages of this report) for consideration by Cabinet.

3 Supporting information

Context of the Partnership

- 3.1 As the Committee will be aware, the Council and the Akeman Partnership LLP (Akeman) set up AVE as a Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) in October 2009, following a competitive dialogue procurement, to manage, improve and develop the Council's commercial property portfolio and provide an income stream to the Council. Upon completion of the agreement the Council sold the majority of its industrial and commercial estate to AVE LLP at market value.
- 3.2 The partnership is governed by a formal Members' Agreement and managed by a partnership board on which the Council has 3 representatives (Cllr Whyte, Cllr Rand and Teresa Lane) but this does not affect voting rights as the respective partners vote collectively. Akeman produced a draft Partnership Business Plan for AVE as part of their bid, which was approved by the Cabinet in June 2009. The final version of the Plan formed part of the completion documentation approved in October 2009. The Board meets on a regular basis to review progress on the Business Plan and monitor performance of the Asset Manager, Akeman Asset Management LLP.
- 3.3 The Members' Agreement requires AVE to prepare a new Business Plan before the end of their accounting year (which now mirrors the Council's financial year) and circulate this to the Council and Akeman for approval. The Agreement also provides that the Council and Akeman will use all reasonable endeavours to agree the Business Plan within 90 working days. A draft plan was first presented to the Partnership Board at their meeting in October but it was decided by AVDC, and also the private sector partners, to refine it at subsequent Board meetings and delay submitting it to Akeman and AVDC. A number of iterations followed, and the Board agreed to recommend the attached draft plan for approval at its meeting on 3 March. Following consideration by this Committee the draft Plan, together with the Committee's comments, will be reported to Cabinet on 12 April.
- 3.4 The timetable of the last few years for preparing the draft Plan and subsequent consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet, means that approval is retrospective and does not enable any financial implications for AVDC eg the distribution (ie dividend) by AVE, to be reflected in the Council's annual budget setting process. With the agreement of the private investor, the timetable for future draft Business Plans will be changed to an earlier Committee and Cabinet cycle ie January, to achieve this alignment.

- 3.5 The Members' Agreement requires the Business Plan to set out AVE's objectives for the life of the Partnership (ie 20 years) and the annual overarching objectives for each accounting period. In particular the Plan must include a statement that AVE's business shall be operated with a view to producing the best risk adjusted profit obtainable and to maximise the risk adjusted rate of return to the Council and Akeman. Subject to agreement between AVE, Akeman and the Council, the Plan is also expected to include the following matters (based on a 3 year projection where appropriate):-
 - Strategic business objectives and targets
 - Gross and net rental income projections, including assessment of operating costs, rental voids, rent arrears and any other losses and receipts
 - Annual portfolio valuation prepared to a standard acceptable for AVDC financial reporting purposes
 - Confirmation that the financial covenants regarding loan to value and interest cover are being maintained
 - Projections of estimated receivable rent and confirmation of compliance with maintaining portfolio income levels
 - Proposals for working capital budget, any new capital investments and reinvestments plus any distributions to partners
 - Performance against key indicators and targets indicate levels of achievement
- 3.6 Once approved, the Partnership Business Plan provides the framework within which the Partnership Board works, similar in effect to the Budget and Policy Framework set by Full Council for the Cabinet. Accordingly if the Board wish to pursue any substantive action which is not provided for in the Business Plan they must obtain specific authority from the Council (either by a Cabinet or Cabinet member decision) and Akeman. The Committee are, therefore, invited to consider and comment on the Plan as drafted to date.

Index to the Business Plan and Supporting Documentation

- 3.7 The draft Business Plan is attached in the confidential pages as Appendix 1.
- 3.8 The draft Business Plan identifies that the 'core assets' within the portfolio those assets which have the greatest collective bearing on the portfolio in total, and are therefore the subject of greatest management attention - are the estates at Rabans Lane North, Rabans Close, Edison Road, Bessemer Crescent, Stocklake, Gatehouse Way and Hale Leys Shopping Centre. For this reason, these assets will have their own dedicated Asset Management Strategy which will be submitted to the Board for approval.
- 3.9 During the 2012-13 financial year, AVE purchased the Hale Leys Shopping Centre, creating a separate special purpose vehicle, Hale Leys LLP, to own and manage the centre. By value, the shopping centre makes up about a quarter of the total portfolio value of AVE. A separate cashflow for the Centre is in the confidential pages as Appendix 2.

3.10 The Business Plan necessarily includes a range of assumptions about the future behaviour of tenants and the wider market. Some of these may come to pass, some may not. In order to provide Members with an improved understanding of the impact which these events may have on the performance of the business, two 'cases' are presented: a pessimistic 'base' case and an optimistic 'enhanced' case. (The expectation is that reality will fall somewhere between these two extremes). The cashflows supporting the base and enhanced business plan are included in the confidential pages as Appendix 3 and 4.

Analysis and summary of key issues in the Plan

3.11 The Business Plan is introduced by a number of key headlines, some of which are worth repeating in the covering open report:

Looking back

- During 2015, the UK market finally started to see more confidence from the occupier market spread outside central London which has benefited locations like Aylesbury. However, the retail market remained volatile.
- The core aims of the company remained the same ie:
 - increased investor revenue flows and
 - support for the Council's economic development ambitions
- After the last few years of rationalisation and stabilisation of the portfolio, through the recession, the focus has been on redevelopment, investment and portfolio growth.
- During the 2015/16 financial year, the following progress has been made:
 - 1. Sale completed of the Whitehill Surgery and Ardenham Lane car park to the medical practice who occupied on a long and unsatisfactory lease.
 - 2. Sale of the Pembroke Road estate to AVDC to allow expansion of their depot, is due to complete before the AVE year end.
 - 3. The Phase 1 Gateway affordable housing should complete later this year.
 - 4. To date, lettings have occurred across the portfolio in line with expectations with 23 new leases completed, 10 vacating (4 of which relocated to AVE premises elsewhere), and 8 renewing.
 - 5. The AVE portfolio has started to see the ripple of confidence and property. The overall vacancy level for the multi let estates has decreased and is now as low as 7.8% for some parts of the estate although it remains stubbornly high, over 25%, for

other areas. (See comment under Looking forward section).

- 6. Despite the volatility of the market, Hale Leys Shopping Centre is 100% occupied.
- 7. A distribution to members of AVE was deferred until 2016/17. (See comment under Looking forward section).
- 8. A refurbishment of Bessemer Crescent units has been highly successful and resulted in an increase in lettings with an end year forecast of 7.8% vacancy.

Looking forward

- With the delay in the rating revaluation, occupiers are still paying rates based on historic inflated valuations which holds down rents achievable.
- Although the UK economy is generally doing well compared to many other countries, there are still many uncertainties it needs to cope with including the impact of an exit from the EU, continued austerity and the Chinese slow down.
- During the next 12 months, the focus will be on:
 - 1. Continuing and extending the refurbishment programme to improve the multi let estates to reduce vacancies, increase rent and help generate employment through the increased lettings.
 - 2. Making a distribution to members of the partnership.
 - 3. Identifying investment opportunities to grow/diversify the portfolio and enhance its value. This will include consideration of any opportunities arising from the emerging Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan.
 - 4. Bringing forward a number of developments including:
 - Completion of the office building on the Gateway site (Phase 1)
 - Bringing forward Gateway Phase 2
 - 5. Securing the renewal leases of key tenants of the Hale Leys Shopping Centre and engagement in the process to develop the next phases of the Waterside North development.
 - 6. The transfer of 'community assets' where there is a demand to do so and it makes economic sense from AVE's perspective.

Commentary on 1-6

- 3.12 The proposals in this Business Plan reflect the growing confidence in the market and AVE is in a good position to capitalise on the district's increasing attractiveness as an investment location.
- 3.13 The void rates on some areas of the multi let industrial estate are still significantly higher than desired (up to 26%) but the first phase of refurbishment, alongside a more proactive marketing campaign, has been rewarding, with void rates falling for those particular units.
- 3.14 One of the Vale's economic strengths has been its small/medium sized business base, and so the AVE portfolio, and the plans to continue and expand the refurbishment programme, will make an important contribution to the district's growing economic success and AVDC's own economic development strategy. Stronger links are being formed with the Council's Economic Development team to help facilitate this.
- 3.15 Retaining tenants on the multi let sites by improving customer satisfaction is an objective of the AVE asset management strategy, particularly given the potential competition from other employment sites. The investment by AVE to upgrade the broadband to superfast has been welcomed by the tenants (see page 29 of Appendix 1) and in 2016/17, plans are in place to provide an estate wide CCTV system.
- 3.16 The first planned distribution to partners, is a significant milestone in the life of AVE. The challenges of the market in the last few years has prevented a distribution being made but the base and enhanced case shown on pages 4 and 5 of Appendix 1show a distribution in this year and 2017/18 and 2018/19. The distribution sum in 2016/2017 is still to be agreed by the Board but a generally cautious approach will be taken to ensure that money is available to meet amortisation obligations and deliver the asset management plans set out in Appendix 1, pages 31 37.
- 3.17 As with all forecasts, there is less certainty about the later years and the ability to sustain a distribution at the forecasted level, will depend on the wider market position and the outcome of a number of other planned activities including for, example, the progression of Gateway phase 2.
- 3.18 The sale of the Pembroke Road site to AVDC for redevelopment will enable the council to meet its expanding waste and recycling service requirements, and progress a compatible commercial business). The receipt from the sale alongside other receipts, will be used to reinvest in new income generating assets. A proactive approach will be taken by the Asset Management Company, Akeman Partnership LLP, to identify and procure the best market offers. Although the current portfolio is dominated by industrial units, it does also include retail and land and an open minded an approach will be taken to future investments.
- 3.19 In addition to managing its own assets, AVE also has the ability to either enable new developments or act as a developer in its own right. Gateway In 2014, AVE received outline planning consent for a mixed use development of land at the Gateway for housing and commercial use. Phase 1 was packaged in a deal with VAHT to enable an affordable housing scheme to be built. For Phase 2, AVE will be looking for the land to be used for a private residential scheme. Whether or not it builds the housing itself or sells the land to a

developer, will be the subject or a more detailed business case to the AVE Board. In 2016/17, part of the site set aside for commercial building will be developed completing in 2017/18. Options on how to bring forward the remainder of the commercial site, will be kept under review.

- 3.10 The Hale Leys Shopping Centre occupies a strategic site in the town centre and how it can benefit from the development of the Waterside car park will be part of the development brief. Footfall in the Centre is impressive and all units are currently occupied. Discussions are on-going with tenants whose leases re up for renewal in the next couple of years.
- 3.11 The table set out on page 14, lists those assets in the portfolio which are considered 'community assets'. From time to time, when requested, assets in this category have been transferred to the local community. The Board has decided to take a more proactive approach and transfer all remaining community assets for a nominal price, where there is a community interest.

4. **Resource implications**

- 4.1 Cashflow analysis supporting both the base and enhanced case set out in the business plan are set out in the confidential pages Appendices 2, 3 and 4.
- 4.2 As reported earlier, after a number of years of AVE struggling to make a distribution as anticipated, this will change in 2016/2017 as a result of growth income and the relief of not having to pay a high interest rate to AVDC on the mezzanine loan which it has already paid off. Part of the cashflow needs to continue to account for the amortisation AVE is required to pay to AVDC for the senior debt and the running expenses of the portfolio.
- 4.3 The last independent valuation of portfolio was carried out in March 2015 which showed an increase. The next independent valuation of the portfolio will be in March 2016 and is expected to show a continued increase in value which helps reduce the gearing.
- 4.3 There are a number of exciting developments, investment opportunities and asset management plans in the pipeline. There will be challenges in delivering these but it's important that AVE takes advantage of the improved market position not only for the wider economic benefit but to ensure that AVE fulfils its original objectives.
- 4.4 The efficient running of the portfolio will remain a focus and in 2016/2017, a range of fees will be benchmarked to ensure value for money is being achieved. This is in line with the Members' Agreement.

Contact Officer Teresa Lane 01296 585006

Background Documents None

AVDC COMPANY GOVERNANCE

Cllr Howard Mordue

Cabinet Member for Finance, Resources and Compliance

1 Purpose

1.1 To approved the attached 'Companies in which AVDC has a financial Interest Guide', and to agree to the approach to shareholder representatives to AVDC companies.

2 For decision

- 2.1 To consider any comments on 'Companies in which AVDC has a Financial Interest Guide' attached as Appendix 1 to this report from the Audit Committee of 21 March 2016 – see para 3.11
- 2.2 To adopt the Guide entitled 'Companies in which AVDC has a Financial Interest Guide' attached as Appendix 1 to this report to clarify the role, responsibilities and relationships between companies it owns and AVDC.
- 2.3 To delegate the nominations of Shareholder Representatives for AVDC companies where appropriate to the Chief Executive after consultation with the Leader.

3 Supporting information

- 3.1 As the approaches of the Commercial AVDC programme, and particularly the formation and ownership of companies, has the potential to become more common place to fulfil the councils innovative and enterprising way to react to its financial challenges. There is a need to ensure that good governance is in place so that the actions of AVDC and those companies are clear, transparent and in line with the overall aims of AVDC.
- 3.2 The attached guide sets out how the relationships between any company that AVDC has a financial interest in and the council should be conducted, it also covers in broad terms the way in which new companies should be developed. This should be set in the context of the already existing control mechanisms for companies that Cabinet and Council have agreed, such as the companies business plans, articles of association and shareholders powers.
- 3.3 The governance of any company owned or invested in by AVDC is important as there is a need to :
 - Ensure that it is clear for staff, public, members and the company staff who is responsible for what, when and why
 - Ensure that AVDC and the company is clear on its roles and responsibilities
 - Ensure that nothing is developed that conflicts with AVDC, or places AVDC in an unlawful positon
 - Ensure that any and all legal or contractual issues are complied with
 - Ensure that the company is operating ethically and transparency is in line with the councils legal responsibilities.
- 3.4 Good corporate governance is aimed at ensuring that the above are adhered to, to maintain and improve the image of both the company and AVDC, and

overall ensure that the company delivers against the reasons it was created and to its business plan.

- 3.5 It is also important that there is consistency across all companies that AVDC may own or relate to, so that there is a common understanding for all partners involved in oversight and management.
- 3.6 The aim of any company owned or part owned by AVDC is to produce overall benefits for the residents and businesses of the Vale. This may be through investment, commercial opportunity, a host of other reasons or simply by generating income for the council through divided payments funded from profit. This also may be through purchasing or reselling elements of council services which may result in an overall better position for the council.
- 3.7 This overarching aim should be at the heart of all decision making, and the attached guide seeks to assist in developing these approaches.
- 3.8 The guide sets out a number of principles that owned (part or whole) companies should deliver. It is recognised that companies created preceding the publication of this guide may not be fully compliant, or those who are not 100% owned by AVDC, however where possible these should be transitioned over the medium term to align with this guide where practical.

Vale Commerce	100%
Aylesbury Vale Broadband	95%
Novae Consulting	100%
Bucks Advantage	50%
Aylesbury Vale Estates	50%

AVDC's current company financial interests are set out in the table below :

- 3.9 As part of the guide the notion of shareholder representatives are highlighted for larger companies. The role of a shareholder representative is to act as a key guider and conduit between AVDC and the companies Board of Directors, informing and reinforcing the shareholders wishes. It does not formally constitute a Board member position which enables the role to have allegiance to AVDC rather than the company and enable swifter guidance to be provided as apposed to waiting for more formalised processes in line with the more commercial/agile nature of operation. This does however not alter the reserved matters reserved to the shareholders in any incorporation documents, and hence still means that more major changes will still be referred back to Cabinet.
- 3.10 So as to enable shareholder representatives to be put in place as demand requires the recommendation of this report seeks this function to be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader as and when this is seen to be required, reflecting again the more agile nature of working in a more commercial operation.
- 3.11 In presenting this item to Audit Committee on 21 March, a number of comments were made regarding our relationship with our companies focusing mainly around; sufficient resource being available to deliver the companies aims and its governance, the importance of the skill sets of directors/officers to discharge the required actions, and the reporting and controls that exist over the investments including scrutiny. No changes to the guide it self were

suggested. All of the issues raised are covered in this covering report and/or the guide attached, or are addressed under the day to day management of the companies or the Governance Sector of AVDC.

3.12 The guide has been developed from our pool of knowledge to date on creating and operating the companies above. The intention is that the guide will be updated periodically to ensure that the knowledge as we move forward if also captured and our approaches changed to reflect that experience.

4 **Options Considered**

4.1 None

5 Reasons for Recommendation

5.1 To ensure the good governance of AVDCs financial interests in companies.

6 **Resource implications**

6.1 None directly from this report.

Contact Officer	Andy Barton, Sector Lead Business Strategy &
	Governance – 01296 585430
Background Documents	None

This page is intentionally left blank



AYLESBURY VALE DISTRICT COUNCIL

GUIDE TO CREATION AND WORKING WITH COMPANIES IN WHICH AVDC HAS A FINANCIAL INTEREST

MARCH 2016

Draft 6- Andy Barton 02/03/16

FINAL DRAFT FOR SCRUTINY & CABINET APPROVAL

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Background	4
Why governance is important	4
Start up	5
Phase 1 – Business Case and Decision Making	5
Business Case	5
Gaining Permission	6
Phase 2 – Pre Launch Preparation	6
Phase 3 – Post Launch Early Days	
Start up Support	
Articles of Association	
State Aid	
Definition	
State Aid Rules	
Compliance with the state aid rules	
Is the activity state aid ?	
General Governance	
Existing Companies and Those in Pilot Stages	
Roles of Members and Staff	
Normal Company structure	
Appointment of AVDC Directors to Companies	
Press Media and Relations Relating to the New Company	
Reporting & Performance Monitoring	
Quarterly Reporting	
Formal Annual Reporting	
Financial	
Loans	
Dividends and Extracting Funds from Companies	16
AVDC Annual Accounts	
Banking, Taxation and Accountants	17
Use of Council Assets	
IT	
Property & Accommodation	19
Staff	19
How charges should be made	20
Data Handling & Protection	
Freedom of Information	
Contracts & Agreements	
Annex 1 – State Aid	
Annex 2 – Data Movement Form	
Annex 3 – FOI draft contractual conditions.	
Annex 4 – Illustrative Service Level Agreement (SLA)	
Annex 5 – Model Reserved matters	
Annex 6 – Checklist for Company Set up	

BACKGROUND

WHY GOVERNANCE IS IMPORTANT

The governance of any company owned or invested in by AVDC is important as there is a need to :

- Ensure that it is clear for staff, public, members and the company staff who is responsible for what, when and why?
- Ensure that AVDC and the company is clear on its roles and responsibilities
- Ensure that nothing is developed that conflicts with AVDC, or places AVDC in an unlawful positon
- Ensure that any and all legal or contractual issues are complied with
- Ensure that the company is operating ethically and transparency is in line with the councils legal responsibilities.

Good corporate governance is aimed at ensuring that the above are adhered to, to maintain and improve the image of both the company and AVDC, and overall ensure that the company delivers against the reasons it was created and to its business plan.

It is also important that there is consistency across all companies that AVDC may own or relate to, so that there is a common understanding for all partners involved in oversight and management.

The aim of any company owned or part owned by AVDC is to produce overall benefits for the residents and businesses of the Vale. This may be through investment, commercial opportunity, a host of other reasons or simply by generating cash for the council through divided payments funded from profit. This also may be through purchasing or reselling elements of council services which may result in an overall better position for the council. This overarching aim should be at the heart of all decision making, and that this document seeks to assist in developing.

This document sets out a number of principles that owned (part or whole) companies should deliver. It is recognised that companies created preceding the publication of this guide may not be fully compliant, however where possible those should be moved to align with this guide where practical. It is recognised however that each company and circumstance is different, and hence sometimes departures from these principles can be justified, but the guidance forms a starting point and any departure must be justified and documented and such deviation agreed with as a minimum a Cabinet Member and potentially full Cabinet.

It is assumed that the company will operate legally at all times.

START UP

Possibly the most important phase of launching a new company is its start up process. This section of the guide gives a high level set of issues/checklist that may be useful when developing new companies – especially when wholly owned. It is not intended to be a detailed implementation plan, rather the key phases and key issues to consider.

There are 3 distinct phases of developing a company in the AVDC environment.

PHASE 1 – BUSINESS CASE AND DECISION MAKING

The key activity in this phase of developing the company is to establish the business case behind the company and to gain the necessary decisions to progress. A checklist for company set up is shown in Annex 6.

BUSINESS CASE

It is important that there is a solid basis for developing a company. Prior to developing the business case there are a number of key questions worthy of consideration :

Why do you need a company and are we sure that a company is the best solution ?

Developing a company should only be undertaken where there is a clear reason for doing so. A number of options are available for AVDC to gain many of the advantages that a company provides without the need for setting one up, and the running costs that this incurs. Advice should be sought from AVDC legal to assist in this decision making.

Principally the main reason AVDC is likely to wish to set up a company is to gain access to something or some activity that as a council it can not. This is likely to be related to making a profit in areas it is prohibited from doing or that it needs some freedom or flexibility from the bureaucratic process in local government that it can't gain in any other way. In general the Council will be setting up companies with a specific aim in mind. This may be that a Company is required in order to create an outcome for the community that the Council is not empowered to deliver itself but in general it is more likely that a Company is being set up either because a company can carry out a Council function better or more at lower cost or to generate profit for the council in the form of cash which can be reinvested in Council services that cannot ever recover their costs or other commercial initiatives. The important point to bear in mind is that the Company must deliver benefit to the Council either through :

- Reducing Council operating costs by delivering Council service at lower cost than the Council is able to do.
- Delivering services which the Council is not empowered to deliver
- Generating cash to the Council through Dividend payments
- Generating a cash lump sum by enabling the Council to sell its shares at a point in the future at a significant profit.

It must be clear which of these objectives is in focus and how the company will deliver them.

Once the decision is made that a company is the right option, a business case needs to be developed. This should ideally take the form of a 'green book'¹ compliant business case (the government standard for business cases). This is not a rigid form, but one which can flex and adapt to the issue at hand.

As a minimum it should clearly set out :

- the objectives of the business
- The investment and other resources required to achieve those objectives.
- What options for delivering this are including benefits and dis-benefits of each
- An assessment of the best option
- What form the company should take
- A consideration of the taxation and potential State Aid issues
- How the company will generate cash for reinvestment in the Council rather than just profits for reinvestment in the Company's growth.
- A business plan (ideally no less than 5 years) and a matching financial cashflow forecast including how start up will be funded (including any risks the business may face and how significant these risks are, and the expected financial results of the business and projected dividend payments to the Council, together with any relevant outcomes that the business is expected to achieve
- Evidence, normally backed by legal opinion, that the option is not ultra vires
- The Business Plan will be rigorously scrutinised and any Business Plan that does not demonstrate a clear understanding of the target market, costs, opportunities, the competition, barriers to entry and pricing and profit strategy is likely to be rejected.

GAINING PERMISSION

Company set up is a reserved matter for Council. This means as a minimum Cabinet recommendation and Full Council resolution to set up is required. In reality much work prior to these formal stages will need to be undertaken with senior managers, stakeholders and members. Bear in mind the time it will take to complete the decision making process in full – likely minimum 3 months at the very earliest.

PHASE 2 – PRE LAUNCH PREPARATION

Once agreement to proceed is granted, there is an intensive effort in launching the company. This will include (but not limited to) :

- Who and how the company will be staffed internal staff seconded, cost recovery options, direct employment (if the latter then personnel advice will be required)
- Clear Statement of Cost recovery arrangements to a level that would be expected if the services were being procured from a third party.
- Clear statement of which costs of setup will be funded by AVDC and which will be attributed to the Company.
- Clear explanation of how the company will generate surplus cash to be returned to the Council in the form of dividends or stock splits and what level of reinvestment of profits is expected.

¹ https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-green-book-appraisal-and-evaluation-incentral-governent

- Explanation of the risks to the Council's reputation which may arise from the Company's operation and how they will be managed
- Assets where will the company operate from, what IT will it use, what data does it need etc see using assets section below. What consideration the Company will give to AVDC for their use.
- Financial arrangements any loan or capital, who the company will bank with, accountancy, VAT and corporation tax considerations, insurances etc.
- Clear statements of the controls that AVDC will require the company to put in place, and any audit processes that AVDC may require in relation to
 - Information Security and Data Protection
 - Financial Controls
 - Intellectual property
- Media & Communications how will the messages be communicated, how will you get to your customers, how will they contact you etc. The relationship between AVDC Customers and any other company customers, and a clear role/responsibility understanding between AVDC and the company.

All of these areas are considered in more detail in the following sections of this guide.

PHASE **3** – POST LAUNCH EARLY DAYS

Once the initial set up phases are completed and the company starts to operate in a more stable sense there should be every effort made to move the company into an independent state as soon as possible.

START UP SUPPORT

AVDC will help in the start up process where it can but it is limited in what in can provide and when. The guiding principles around start up support are:

- Up to the point of decision everything can be done by AVDC, it is in the process of developing the business case for a company and that is a legitimate activity it can do as the council.
- Post decision and pre launch things will start to get less clear. AVDC is still setting up the company and hence can fund most things, however once the company entity exists the distance between the company and AVDC needs to become more distinct. The guiding rule is at this point that any company will pay for itself.
- Best practise is to use the company incorporation date as a dividing line between setup by AVDC and the company existing by itself. At this point technically the company exists and should start to operate separately. This means that by that point all of the issues in this guide should be either agreed or both AVDC and the company should be clear about how they will work. Any council resources used by the company from the point of incorporation will be charged to the company at full cost recovery. If necessary Service Level Agreements (SLA) between AVDC and any company can be entered into on a full cost recovery basis – more of which is explained further on in this guide.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

One key part of company set up is the articles of association. These govern the way the relationship between AVDC and the company works, and how the company itself runs. These are different for each case, but some standardised issues are starting to form. As a minimum the Articles should cover :

- Business Plan
- Access to information by AVDC regarding the company
- Management of the company
- Board of Directors
- Share Management
- Termination
- Confidentiality
- Reserved Matters see Annex 5

This guide goes through in more depth all of the above points and more.

STATE AID 23

This is a summary version of the state aid rules and regulations. If you have **<u>ANY</u>** query regarding state aid please refer to legal advice. As a first stage you may wish to refer to the government guidance referred to in the footnote.

DEFINITION – "State aid is any advantage granted by public authorities through state resources on a selective basis to any organizations that could potentially distort competition and trade in the European Union (EU)".

The definition of state aid is very broad because 'an advantage' can take many forms. It is anything which an undertaking (an organisation engaged in economic activity) could not get on the open market. Whilst it is unusual for councils at the district level to come near to State Aid issues due to size and scale, when dealing with companies and investments it is more likely and hence you should have an understanding of the principles.

STATE AID RULES

State aid rules can (among other things) apply to the following:

- grants
- loans
- tax breaks
- the use or sale of a state asset for free or at less than market price (including intellectual property)

The rules can apply to funding given to charities, public authorities and other non-profit making bodies where they are involved in commercial activities. In principle, state aid is not allowed in the EU. However the state aid rules allow for good aid, which is necessary to deliver growth and other important objectives.

The UK government supports the need for effective state aid rules to prevent distortion of competition and to create an open and competitive market in the EU on which UK firms can fairly compete and grow.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE STATE AID RULES

Public authorities are responsible for ensuring their policy measures and projects comply with the rules. *We should think about state aid early and seek advice to avoid problems and save time.*

The rules can be complex and getting it wrong can mean recovery of state aid and suspension or withdrawal of funds as well as penalties. This might have serious consequences for the recipients of aid and the delivery of policy objectives.

² https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/443686/BIS-15-

⁴¹⁷⁻state-aid-the-basics-guide.pdf

³ https://www.gov.uk/guidance/state-aid

IS THE ACTIVITY STATE AID ?

If your proposal can answer 'yes' to any four questions set out below then it is most likely state aid.

- 1. Is the assistance granted by the state or through state resources ?
 - "Granted by the State" means by any public or private body controlled by the state (which, in the UK, means national or local Government).
 - "State resources" is broad: any measure with an impact on the state budget or where the state has significant control are included, for example, tax exemptions, national Lottery funding and EU structural Funds, and gifts/funds.
- 2. Does the assistance give an advantage to one or more undertakings over others ?
 - An "undertaking" is any organisation engaged in economic activity.
 - This is about activity rather than legal form, so non-profit organisations, charities and public bodies can all be undertakings, depending on the activities they are involved in.
 - An undertaking can also include operators and 'middlemen' if they benefit from the funding
 - "Economic activity" means putting goods or services on a market. It is not necessary to make a profit to be engaged in economic activity: if others in the market offer the same good or service, it is an economic activity.
 - Support to an organisation engaged in a non-economic activity isn't State aid, e.g. support to individuals through the social security system is not state aid.
 - An "advantage" can take many forms: not just a grant, loan or tax break, but also use of a state asset for free or at less than market price. Essentially, it is something an undertaking could not get in the normal course of business.
- 3. Does the assistance distort or have the potential to distort competition?
 - If the assistance strengthens the recipient relative to its competitors then the answer is likely to be "yes".
 - The "potential to distort competition" does not have to be substantial or significant: may include relatively small amounts of financial support to firms with modest market share.
- 4. Does the assistance affect trade between Member States
 - The interpretation of this is broad: it is enough that a product or service is tradable between Member States, even if the recipient does not itself export to other EU Markets.

If you answer **YES** to all four questions then state aid is likely to exist.

There are then a number of other conditions that apply – in particular a deminimus rule ($\leq 200,000$ in any rolling 3 year period – around £140,000 in Dec 2015). There are tight regulations about the use of this and the deminimus regulations will need to be followed, which include record keeping and standard text to be used on notices. Do not anticipate that this is automatic exemption.

To ensure that state aid has been considered a screening form will need to be kept – Annex 1. This should be lodged somewhere safely in case any accusations of state aid are lodged.

If you are **AT ALL** concerned about state aid – seek legal advice early.

GENERAL GOVERNANCE

When forming a company we are creating a separate entity from the AVDC. As such it has its own rules, roles, finance and purpose. Because it is its own entity we need to ensure that we (staff members, customers and the public) don't confuse the company with AVDC and vice versa.

This does not mean that two can't and will not work closely together, but it does mean we have to be clear where the dividing line is.

Set out below are some principles around general governance for specific things, people or actions. They are not exhaustive but they are intended to set a minimum level of things that should be addressed.

EXISTING COMPANIES AND THOSE IN PILOT STAGES

Our existing companies that pre date the adoption of this document may not be in full compliance with the content set out. There should be an effort made to move the companies to become in compliance over the medium term.

Companies or concepts that are in pilot stages may again not be in full compliance, however the spirt of this guide should be adhered to, and where possible full compliance should be reached as soon as practicable.

ROLES OF MEMBERS AND STAFF

AVDC and the Company need to be aware of who staff are working for and under what rules, and what their role is for the company and/or AVDC. We need to operate an element of compartmentalisation or 'Chinese walls' between the different roles that staff play – especially when they are working for both AVDC and the company at any point.

This means that :

- There should be clear governance and transparency to the residents of the Vale.
- When talking to members, the public or customers clarity and transparency are key, and people need to be able and ready to explain the relationship between the ADVC and the company.
- Staff, the Company and AVDC are clear what data, equipment and resources can be used by the company (see later sections regarding the principles around these issues).
- Information and knowledge that is gained in one role is NOT used in the other for example knowledge obtained by AVDC should not be used in the company and vice versa. There may be exemptions to this where agreements are in place but the default is NO transfer between the two.
- Staff working for the company should be formalised in some way this could be via rolling secondment, or by buying staff time and ideally under a SLA for clarity. AVDC Staff can not do work for the company without this type of arrangement being in place, once the company has moved past the inception stage (ie post company incorporation).

- Specific guidance/induction should be given to staff before they work for an AVDC company regarding these issues to avoid any accusation of State Aid or procurement/contractual breach.
- Staff should be selected to avoid potential conflicts of interest if they remain in roles with AVDC this is particularly important when regulatory services are involved for example when companies may be applying for permissions where AVDC is the decision maker.
- The above also applies to elected members, and as part of member induction/training we need to cover the same issues.
- These messages should be reiterated regularly to members and staff (working for the company or not).

NORMAL COMPANY STRUCTURE

Normally any company is managed by a board of directors. With the exception of the Reserved Matters, the Business and all affairs of the Company shall be managed by the Board. To that end but subject to those exceptions, the Board shall have full and complete authority, power and discretion to direct, manage and control the Business and the affairs and properties of the Company, to make all decisions regarding those matters and to perform any and all other acts or activities customary or incidental to the management of the Business.

To assist in the day to day running of the company AVDC should appoint a shareholder representative. They act in the role of shareholder in making major decisions. This would normally be an elected member of the Council.

APPOINTMENT OF AVDC DIRECTORS TO COMPANIES

As part of owning companies AVDC will appoint representative directors to the boards of those companies. Notwithstanding public sector responsibilities, all Directors of companies have legal responsibilities, as defined under the Companies Act 2006, and under a wide variety of other laws and regulations such as insolvency and health and safety legislation.

The general duties of directors are set out in Chapter 2 of Part 10 of the Companies Act 2006:

- to act within powers in accordance with the company's constitution and to use those powers only for the purposes for which they were conferred
- to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole
- to exercise independent judgement
- to exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence
- to avoid conflicts, or possible conflicts between interests as a Director and the interests of the company
- not to accept benefits from third parties, if they may be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest
- to declare any direct or indirect interest in a proposed transaction or arrangement.

Directors appointed by a public sector body have the same responsibilities as any other director under the Companies Act 2006. They must also continue to act in accordance with other applicable legislation, relevant civil service and public sector guidelines, including around managing public money and standards for conduct in public life.

When appointing directors the following guiding principles should apply. The current (and periodic updates) of AVDC standing orders or constitution should also be reviewed to ensure no conflicts are present.

Potential Directors :

- must be aware of the ramifications of acting as a director for a company this includes that the director would be working for in the interests of the company and not the individual or indeed AVDC. They should be able to manage any conflicts that may occur.
- should be selected so that they are sufficiently senior to act at the level required by the role
- should be selected on their ability to demonstrate skills or knowledge pertinent to the operations of the company
- should be insured against liability claims by the company so as to limit their personal liability
- should be informed of the potential risks of acting as a Company Director
- will by default be un remunerated positions
- can be either executive or non executive positions
- should be selected to avoid potential conflicts of interest if they remain in roles with AVDC for example typically the section 151 officer, the Monitoring Officer and the Leader should not be directors of external companies. This is so AVDC is still able to hold the company to account.
- Board Members should be provided with letters of appointment which clearly explain both the role and the conditions of the appointment.

When companies set up their boards, there should be consideration paid to use of external board members. Ideally companies should not be set up solely with AVDC staff and/or members. This is to ensure the independent operation of the company. External board members can be remunerated if required.

Shareholder representatives are also likely to be required, and are mandatory for larger companies. Shareholder representatives are important conduits between AVDC and the company, and should serve as both a liaison and reporting. Similar principles to the above should be used when AVDC selects representatives. When selecting representatives the conflicts of interest principle set out above can be waived.

Shareholder representatives will as a minimum need to be an elected member is able to action issues that relate to the role. In larger concerns there may also be merit in having an officer level assistant as well, however this would be in addition to, rather that in lieu of the member.

For ease it is also worth the company identifying its representative (s) at this point. It is for the company to determine who should be this role, but ideally it should not be a director of the company and be more at the operational level.

PRESS MEDIA AND RELATIONS RELATING TO THE NEW COMPANY

AVDC investments in companies are created so that the companies can have a clear focus on particular issues and activities. The company is a separate entity and best placed to make day to day operational decisions on all press, marketing and PR activity. To support this there will be an over arching principle that the company makes its own decision regarding these activities, with a hands off approach from AVDC.

However the company and its Board should have due regard to the political and community arena that AVDC operates within and should seek to uphold AVDCs broad aims and principles.

In doing so this general guidance applies :

- The Company should do nothing to harm the reputation of AVDC in the general eyes of the electorate, and vice versa.
- It should be clear on key media (such as website and significant marketing material) that the company is owned (part or full) by AVDC.
- An explanation as to the company and AVDC relationship should be on all websites. This helps with transparency to customers and the electorate. This should include reciprocal links to and from AVDCs website.
- It should be clear to the average customer what entity they are transacting with at any time (ie the company should not seek to pass itself off as AVDC, there should be a clear understanding by customers of who they are dealing with at any time).
- AVDC may assist in the launch of new companies and at significant events where these are deemed in the overall public interest and are requested by the company.
- AVDC will limit its activity in the day to day communications and marketing by the company company activity should be by the company not AVDC.
- In return, AVDC will aim not to influence or interfere in the commercial activities of the company through a politically driven agenda.
- There may however be issues where a co-ordinated approach between AVDC and the company may still be required (for example major launch or crisis). This will need to be addressed preferably in advance but if necessary is a time critical manner depending on the issue.

At times of normal operation the above should suffice to ensure a healthy and clear relationship between companies and AVDC. However where there are reputational risks alternative approaches may be necessary.

It is recommended that planned significant marketing activities form part of the quarterly reporting set out elsewhere in this guide so that both parties are aware.

REPORTING & PERFORMANCE MONITORING

In its role as shareholder there should be clear and regular performance monitoring of companies that AVDC has shares in. This is to ensure that the investments made in the company are being well managed according to the business plan, and to ensure transparency to members and the electorate.

QUARTERLY REPORTING

As a minimum these should include the items below, however the shareholder representative and company representative should agree the specific reporting requirements in advance of the first quarter reports an keep these under regular review :

- Current cash flow and profit and loss position
- Current investment position (including any loan position)
- Income and expenditure forecast for the 4 rolling quarters
- Current position compared to current business plan
- Any expected issues reserved in the companies articles of association that may be need to be reported to AVDC formally over the next 6 months.
- High level reporting of planned strategic marketing activities.

FORMAL ANNUAL REPORTING

Formal reporting of companies will be annual via Scrutiny and Cabinet. This will become due on or at the end of each financial year. Where Company Incorporation occurred within the last quarter of a financial year then the first formal report will be fall due in at the following financial year end.

The annual business plan for the vehicle and should be a matter reserved for shareholders' approval in the form of Cabinet, with the appropriate scrutiny review.

This reporting should be in the form of a narrative suitable for an AVDC member report and an updated business plan. The reporting should include as a minimum :

- Those items listed above for quarterly reporting
- Should cover a retrospective look since the last annual report
- Should set the business and financial targets for the forthcoming years and projections for two further years
- Any key reporting agreed with the Shareholder Representative
- As a minimum the forward reporting should cover the next 12 months.

Where possible all reporting provided by the company should be able to be made public. Where this is not possible confidential elements should be clearly marked in accordance with AVDCs current information security policy. AVDC and the company will come to a decision regarding what level of confidentiality should be applied. This will range from 'yellow pages' through redaction to full withholding of the information

As a minimum all reporting should have at the very least a summary commentary of progress and summary financial position able to be made public. For further information see the information security section of this guide.

Page 34

FINANCIAL

The main reason why AVDC will own shares in company is likely to be due to the need to create new income or to protect its financial interests. As such the financial management of shares and the companies they reside in are of fundamental importance. This section of the guide sets out principles for managing these aspects in relation to AVDC. It does not seek to replicate or substitute the normal legal, tax and financial regimes that exist for any company – it is only concerned with the direct relationship between AVDC and the company.

As with all parts of this guide each ownership or company is different and these are subject to individual negotiation.

LOANS

When setting up companies it is possible that there will be some form of loan to the new company for start up (see start up section).

When loaning to the company AVDC will be guided by :

- The need to loan at a marginal commercial rate by this we mean that there will be some element of interest payment over and above the cost of borrowing on all loans given to owned or part owned companies. This will be proportionate to the size of loan, term and risk. The guiding principle is that the loan will not be to the detriment of AVDC, and will be made on commercial terms.
- Payback terms, level of interest and level of loan shall be determined in the company set up stage. The level of loan will be clear in any business case prepared to support the investment. The Loan is then to be agreed by resolution by the company once it is set up.
- Where possible, there should be benchmarking evidence that the rate used is commercially comparable.

DIVIDENDS AND EXTRACTING FUNDS FROM COMPANIES

The key point of investments in companies is to raise general income for the council over the longer term. There are a variety of ways in which these can be extracted and it this guide cannot determine a rigid approach to this issue due to the number of specific and unknown factors facing each set of circumstances.

When extracting/receiving funds from its investments AVDC will :

- Seek to extract funds from the company in a planned and known way
- Seek to not harm the ability for the company to fulfil its purpose or agreed business plan. Business Plans will need to feature how this will be achieved in their forward plans.
- Will do so in the most in a way as to be most advantageous to both AVDC and the company with regard to the ruling financial arrangements at the time.

AVDC ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Summary accounts suitable for inclusion in the Councils Annual Accounts will be required. These will largely replicate those required for the companies own tax issues. These may however vary from time to time linked to legislative or regulatory changes.

The Company will need to provide draft accounts a maximum of 4 weeks after the close of the financial year, in a format agreed with AVDC.

AVDCs auditors may require further information or access to financial records during this process. If this is required AVDC and their auditors will work with the company to deal with any specific issues.

Articles of Association for companies will need to reflect these issues.

BANKING, TAXATION AND ACCOUNTANTS

As with other areas of new company formation, AVDC is not concerned with the day to day operation of the company. Therefore choices regarding bank suppliers etc are for the company to decide (within the reputational guidelines set out earlier). Due diligence will be need to ensure that any provider meets the minimum legal requirements required by UK Law.

It is strongly recommended that external accountants are used for companies so that the dividing lines between AVDC and the company are clear and transparent.

During the set up phases of any company there should be due consideration to the best approach to taxation issues, including registration for VAT etc. and advice should be externally sought or verified.

USE OF COUNCIL ASSETS

AVDC wants to ensure that any company it invests in succeeds. As such the council has access to significant assets that may be able to assist in the new company set up or over the longer term; subject to satisfying state aid issues.

However many of the assets have been procured or are contracted in such a way that their use by commercial concerns is limited. This for example may be that procurement has been through government frameworks or license for products are limited to public sector use. In addition the rules around State Aid (see the section of this guide regrading this) may mean that use of such assets may not be possible.

The basic principle is therefore that there should be NO assumption that any asset can be used by the company. Starting from this position means that each request is thoroughly considered before being agreed to.

In all circumstances all assets will also be charged at for at a minimum full cost recovery rate. This should include a profit element where legislation allows, and should include the recovery of all costs – including those leading up to the provision of service.

All requests for assistance regarding assets will originate from the company. AVDC will seek to fulfil those requests subject to the issues covered in this guide.

Where fulfilling requests AVDC will need to pay careful regard to balancing the needs of the request and any detriment to existing council service that may occur – eg where fulfilling the request may mean that normal day to day council business is impacted on. This does not mean that this can not occur, but it does mean it needs to be explicitly considered.

Set out below are some principles that will apply to specific topics. These are not exhaustive but do give some guidance on the some principles (where possible should form the basis of a SLA between AVDC and any company).

IT

The council has significant IT resources, however in most cases these have been procured or are supplied through public sector restricted contracts.

There should be no assumption that ANY IT resource can be used by or for a company activity. This includes hardware and software. Data protection issues also apply – see other sections of this guide.

Known exemptions to this are :

- Printers these are able to create auditable charge back codes which can be charged out to the company. This is currently actively managed via the conference centre.
- WiFi free public WiFi is available through our offices. Any member of the public can use this facility (subject to sign up conditions) and therefore the company can also intermittently use this same facility. AVDC do however reserve the right to limit access in relation to this facility.

- Some licensed software is only for use by AVDC under the terms of its licence and cannot be used by any company without explicit consent.
- AVDC can generally procure hardware at prices which are more attractive than those available to low volume purchasers. In most cases these prices are available to AVDC related companies.
- Telephony services AVDC have procured telephony services at attractive rates which can be used by AVDC wholly owned companies.

PROPERTY & ACCOMMODATION

The council has significant property assets. As with other areas these are however funded for by the tax payer for AVDC business, therefore the default position of NON use applies. Known exemptions are :

 Public areas of offices – a number of public areas in our buildings exist. The company would have access to these areas in a similar vein to those of any member of the public and to enjoy any of the facilities in these areas. This excludes full operation of the company from these public areas.

All other property assets will be charged for at the commercial rate. For example this may include use of the conference facilities, meeting rooms or serviced office space. Where only part time use is being considered (for example during start up) there may be a case for linking this to staff recharging (see below).

STAFF

The biggest asset that AVDC has at its disposal is its staff. In many cases, and especially during start up, AVDC staff are likely to be used in helping to launch a company (especially where wholly owned).

The use of staff, especially on a flexible basis, in companies is possible but it is likely to be only possible on an agreed voluntary basis. The principle would be that the staff member always remains an AVDC employee on AVDC terms & conditions as is charged out to the company at a full cost recovery rate applicable to their grade

Two rates are possible to form this type of recharge :

- Staff employment cost (this includes ALL employment costs of staff including employment costs)
- Staff employment cost + operational costs related to employment (for example this would include accommodation overheads) this may be a viable alternative to separate accommodation costs in start up phases.

These two rates are available via the staff time calculator available on MAVIS. They are expressed as hourly rates and hence time recording of activity will be required to determine the charge.

Any other arrangements are likely to require detailed HR input in to the process and may well involve detailed employment law consideration include TUPE. It is not the purpose of this guide to

address this issue in any depth and HR input should be sought if long term significant use of AVDC staff is considered. This protects both staff, AVDC and the company.

HOW CHARGES SHOULD BE MADE

Whatever the asset provided rates, conditions and payment cycles should be clearly set out prior to delivering service. Normally charges should be recovered on a quarterly basis, to reduce overheads this should be via a combined invoice for all services provided, and they should be subject to AVDC normal terms of payment (ie no special favours to the company).

DATA HANDLING & PROTECTION

Data and data protection is a key area for consideration when working with AVDC companies. The security of AVDC data has significant security, financial, legal and reputational risks attached to it. As such this guide is only a summary position on these issues. Reference for specific issues should be made to AVDCs current Data Protection Policy and Information Governance Group and this guide is subservient to those policies and groups.

Where any data is to be shared between the Company and AVDC a Data Sharing agreement **MUST** be put in place and agreed by the AVDC Information Governance Group which clearly addresses issues such as

- o Data Ownership
- Restrictions that may apply to the use of the data
- o Security requirements that the data owner may require
- Restrictions on locations to which data may be transferred
- o Retention schedules
- Responsibility for response to Freedom of Information Act requests.

Any transfer of data to a Company which is not covered by a prior Data sharing agreement will be treated by AVDC as an Information Security incident and investigated as such. The outcome could result in a Disciplinary Investigation and Action being taken against individuals involved in the transfer.

Data of any sort normally limited by either legal, contractual, security or probity regulations. The assumption around the movement, transfer or access to around ANY data should be that it can NOT happen unless it is explicitly agreed. This protects AVDC, staff and the company. AVDC will seek to collaborate with any request from its companies but this presumption has to exist to protect AVDCs overall position.

Customer data in particular is highly regulated and has significant implications for individuals and organisations if mishandled. In particular the issue regarding the need to only hold data for the time necessary, and to only use it for the explicitly agreed purpose is a key one for consideration when considering the movement or sharing of data.

In the start up phases of new companies (especially wholly owned) it is likely that employees may be working on a seconded or cost recovery basis. Staff need to be very clear that they may have access to data in their AVDC role which should not be exposed or access when working for the company. This will need to be reinforced in any communications with staff, and staff should be very clear that they can not 'leak' data from ADVC to the company.

If it has been agreed that data can be moved between bodies the following must be adhered to :

- The data being moved should be checked by at least 2 people
- That only the data agreed as being moved should be moved ie some element of redaction may be required
- Movement of data should be accompanied by a data movement form (see Annex 2) which sets out the data being moved, tracks how it is being moved, the people involved in the

process including approvals, the mode of movement, security considerations and the time and date this occurred. This is necessary to it is clear what and how data is being moved.

- Data should be moved in the most secure way available which should include options around encryption, passwords, destruction of any hard media involved in the process once successful transfer has occurred.
- Once moved any data should be secured to a sufficient and agreed level as set out in the data movement form. This should include the standards of industry accredited protection as well as storage locations.

FREEDOM OF **I**NFORMATION

As a body covered by Freedom of Information (FOI) legislation, AVDC is compelled to make certain data available on request. In line with our public and transparent practises the default is to make data accessible unless there are reasons why not.

Companies will be expected to work with AVDC on responding to data requests. Annex 3 sets out draft contractual positions that may form part of company set up or understand on this issue.

The simple stance to take is that if anything is given to AVDC it should be considered to be able to made public unless there is a commercial reason why not.

CONTRACTS & AGREEMENTS

It is likely that during the life of an ADVC company there will be some form of contractual relationship between the council and the company. These should be treated no differently to those between the council and any other body (except where specific legal exemptions apply – for example teckal). No advantage should be given to an AVDC company over any other who can undertake a similar role and standard procurement rules apply.

Earlier sections of this document have set out a number of issues that will guide the development of any contracts as they come forward, and these should form the basis of the n- going contract development when the need arises.

Exemptions to this may be where a company has been set up for a specific purpose and this results in the company being legally exempt from these standing arrangements.

In some cases a less formal arrangement may be required for lower level activity. Where appropriate a Service Level Agreement (SLA) approach may be appropriate. Annex 4 sets out an example SLA that may be a useful starting point.

As with any contractual arrangement a named AVDC contact should be provided as a liaison point who should serve as the first point of contact, payment information, terms etc should also be included.

ANNEX 1 – STATE AID 4

PART 1 – INITIAL STATE AID ASSESSMENT

1. Is the support provided granted by the State or through State resources?

The definition of state resources is aid that is granted by the state; this includes all public and private bodies controlled by the state to distribute public funds. State resources include, for example, Lottery, tax exemptions, grants, subsidies, provision of service at below market rate, the selling of public land at below market rate, etc. Funds not permanently belonging to the state but which the state may direct, such as European funds like Structural Funds, ERDF.

Yes/No:

If no, please provide an explanation.

2. Does the support confer a selective advantage to an undertaking?

A benefit which is granted for free or on favorable (non-commercial) terms to some selected undertakings (but not others), could be state aid.

Definitions:

Advantage: An advantage can take the form of direct payment of state resources in the form of grants and subsidies as well as indirect benefits that affect the public budget such as tax breaks, rate rebates, low interest loans, sale of public land below market value and the provision of services for free or at below-market rates.

Selectivity: Support that targets particular businesses, regions or types of firm e.g. SMEs or particular sectors and not others is selective.

Undertakings: An undertaking is defined as any entity, regardless of its legal status, which is engaged in economic activity and where there is a market in comparable goods or services. It does not have to be profit-making as long as the activity carried out is one which, in principle, has commercial competitors. It can include voluntary and non-profit-making public or public authorities when they are engaged in economic activity. Charities, universities, research institutions, voluntary entities, social enterprises and public sector bodies may therefore be deemed to be undertakings when they are engaged in economic activity. Support in favour of non-undertakings (i.e. entities which are not involved in economic activity) is not state aid.

Economic activity: Activity which consists of offering goods or services on a given market and which could, at least in principle, be carried out by private actors in order to make profits.

⁴ Based on the BIS State Aid Assessment form Nov 2010 - see <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/state-aid-a-beginners-guide-guidance-notes</u>

Yes/No

If no, please provide an explanation.

3. Does the support distort or have the potential to distort competition?

If the support has the potential to strengthen the position of the beneficiary relative to other competitors then this criteria is likely to be met. The potential to distort competition does not need to be substantial or significant, and this criterion can apply to relatively small amounts of financial support and firms with little market share.

Yes/No

If no, please provide an explanation.

4. Does the support affect trade between Member States?

Commission's interpretation of this is broad - it is sufficient that a product or service is tradeable between member states, even if the recipient of support does not itself export to other EU markets. This test is not met only in very limited circumstances e.g. where a single, small business is involved in very localised activity e.g. hairdressers.

Yes/No

If no, please provide an explanation.

ANNEX 2 – DATA MOVEMENT FORM

AVDC Originator	Insert name of officer	
Destination	Insert company and staff members name	
Description of Data being moved	Set out in detail the data being moved – where it currently	
p g	exists, what form etc	
What conditions are being applied	Set out any conditions/limits/redaction etc being made	
How will the transfer be made	Email/ftp/shared link etc	
Identify any sensitive data within the	Set out if there is any	
transfer		
How will data security risks be	Describe how this will be managed during the transfer	
addressed	process	
Frequency	Is this data transfer a one off or regular – if regular state	
	how and reason	
When the data was collected does	Yes/No	
AVDC have the powers to pass this		
on		
Data Ownership	Who will own the data once transferred	
Restrictions on use of data	List any restrictions on it use	
Restrictions on Location of end data	Where will this data be stored – system and location	
Retention Schedules	What are the retention schedules for the data	
Named person for any FOI requests	Named person in the company	
Checked by AVDC officer	Second officer agreeing the above	
IGG Sign off	Detail IGG meeting that this was agreed to including extract	
	of minute	

ANNEX 3 – FOI DRAFT CONTRACTUAL CONDITIONS

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT REQUIREMENTS

The Shareholder and the Company acknowledge that the Shareholder is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the EIR and the Company shall, where reasonable, assist and co-operate (at its own expense) with the Shareholder to provide information to enable the Shareholder to comply with these information disclosure obligations.

Where the Company receives a request for information under either the FOIA or the EIR in relation to information which it is holding on behalf of the Shareholder in relation to the Company, it shall:

- transfer the request for information to the Shareholder as soon as practicable after receipt and in any event within two Business Days of receiving a request for information;
- provide the Shareholder with a copy of all information in its possession or power in the form that the Shareholder requires within ten Business Days (or such longer period as the Shareholder may specify) of the Shareholder requesting that information; and
- provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Shareholder to enable the Shareholder to respond to a request for information within the time for compliance set out in the FOIA or the EIR.

Where the Shareholder receives a request under FOIA or EIR which relates to the operations of the Company (a request), it shall notify the Company and afford it an opportunity to make any comments or representations in respect of the disclosure of the information sought. The Company shall respond within five Business Days of receipt of this notification. The Shareholder shall take into account any such comments or representations and shall not respond to the Request until the 5 day response period referred to above has passed.

ANNEX 4 – ILLUSTRATIVE SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT (SLA)

Set out below is an illustrative email of what an IT based SLA might contain. It is provided as example text to consider when considering developing a SLA for any purpose. This is not an exhaustive example but is provided to illustrate the types of things that would be covered in such a document.

Service Level Agreement (SLA)

for Customer

by

Company name

Effective Date: xx/xx/xxxx

Document Owner:	Company name

Version x.x

Version	Date	Description	Author

Approval

(By signing below, all Approvers agree to all terms and conditions outlined in this Agreement.)

Approvers	Role	Signed	Approval Date
Company name	Service Provider		Xx/xx/xxxx
Customer	Customer		Xx/xx/xxxx

Table of Contents

1.	Agreement Overview	28
2.	Goals & Objectives	28
3.	Stakeholders	28
4.	Periodic Review	29
5.	Service Agreement	29
5.1.	Service Scope	29
5.2.	Customer Requirements	29
5.3.	Service Provider Requirements	30
5.4.	Service Assumptions	30
6.	Service Management	30
6.1.	Service Availability	30
6.2.	Service Requests	30

Agreement Overview

This Agreement represents a Service Level Agreement ("SLA" or "Agreement") between *Company name*. and Customer for the provisioning of IT services required to support and sustain the Product or service.

This Agreement remains valid until superseded by a revised agreement mutually endorsed by the stakeholders.

This Agreement outlines the parameters of all IT services covered as they are mutually understood by the primary stakeholders. This Agreement does not supersede current processes and procedures unless explicitly stated herein.

Goals & Objectives

The **purpose** of this Agreement is to ensure that the proper elements and commitments are in place to provide consistent IT service support and delivery to the Customer(s) by the Service Provider(s).

The **goal** of this Agreement is to obtain mutual agreement for IT service provision between the Service Provider(s) and Customer(s).

The **objectives** of this Agreement are to:

- Provide clear reference to service ownership, accountability, roles and/or responsibilities.
- Present a clear, concise and measurable description of service provision to the customer.
- Match perceptions of expected service provision with actual service support & delivery.

Stakeholders

The following Service Provider(s) and Customer(s) will be used as the basis of the Agreement and represent the **primary stakeholders** associated with this SLA:

IT Service Provider(s): Company name. ("Provider")

IT Customer(s): Customer ("Customer")

Periodic Review

This Agreement is valid from the **Effective Date** outlined herein and is valid until further notice. This Agreement should be reviewed at a minimum once per fiscal year; however, in lieu of a review during any period specified, the current Agreement will remain in effect.

The **Business Relationship Manager** ("Document Owner") is responsible for facilitating regular reviews of this document. Contents of this document may be amended as required, provided mutual agreement is obtained from the primary stakeholders and communicated to all affected parties. The Document Owner will incorporate all subsequent revisions and obtain mutual agreements / approvals as required.

Business Relationship Manager: Company name

Review Period: Bi-Yearly (6 months)

Previous Review Date: xx/xx/xxxx

Next Review Date: xx/xx/xxxx

Service Agreement

The following detailed service parameters are the responsibility of the Service Provider in the ongoing support of this Agreement.

Service Scope

The following Services are covered by this Agreement;

- Manned telephone support
- Monitored email support
- Remote assistance using Remote Desktop and a Virtual Private Network where available
- Planned or Emergency Onsite assistance (extra costs apply)
- Monthly system health check

Customer Requirements

Customer responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this Agreement include:

- Payment for all support costs at the agreed interval.
- Reasonable availability of customer representative(s) when resolving a service related incident or request.

Service Provider Requirements

Service Provider responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this Agreement include:

- Meeting response times associated with service related incidents.
- Appropriate notification to Customer for all scheduled maintenance.

Service Assumptions

Assumptions related to in-scope services and/or components include:

• Changes to services will be communicated and documented to all stakeholders.

Service Management

Effective support of in-scope services is a result of maintaining consistent service levels. The following sections provide relevant details on service availability, monitoring of in-scope services and related components.

Service Availability

Coverage parameters specific to the service(s) covered in this Agreement are as follows:

- Telephone support : 9:00 A.M. to 5:00 P.M. Monday Friday
- Calls received out of office hours will be forwarded to a mobile phone and best efforts will be made to answer / action the call, however there will be a backup answer phone service
- Email support: Monitored 9:00 A.M. to 5:00 P.M. Monday Friday
- Emails received outside of office hours will be collected, however no action can be guaranteed until the next working day
- Onsite assistance guaranteed within 72 hours during the business week

Service Requests

In support of services outlined in this Agreement, the Service Provider will respond to service related incidents and/or requests submitted by the Customer within the following time frames:

- 0-8 hours (during business hours) for issues classified as **High** priority.
- Within 48 hours for issues classified as **Medium** priority.
- Within 5 working days for issues classified as **Low** priority.

Remote assistance will be provided in-line with the above timescales dependent on the priority of the support request.

ANNEX 5 – MODEL RESERVED MATTERS

All Reserved Matters shall only be effective if approved by the Shareholder.

The following matters are Reserved Matters unless (where relevant) they have been approved in advance by the Shareholder under the Business Plan:

Constitution of the Company

1. Varying in any respect the Articles or the rights attaching to any of the shares in the Company.

Officers and Shareholders of the Company

- Agreeing the appointment and the appointment terms (including any remuneration terms) of all Directors.
- 3. Agreeing the removal of all Directors (including any terms on which Directors are removed from their office as Directors).
- 4. Approving the admission of further shareholders to the Company or agreeing any rights or restrictions attaching to any shares allocated to such new shareholders.
- 5. Agreeing or approving the maximum size of the Board.

Future direction and development of the company

- 6. Forming any subsidiary or acquiring shares in any other company or participating in any partnership or joint venture (incorporated or not).
- 7. Amalgamating or merging with any other company or business undertaking.
- 8. Selling or disposing of any part of the Business.
- Entering into any arrangement, contract or transaction with either a capital value over [£50,000 (fifty thousand pounds)] or otherwise a value of over [£100,000 (one hundred thousand pounds)].
- 10. Adopting or amending the annual Business Plan and any in-year changes.
- 11. Passing any resolution for its winding up or presenting any petition for its administration (unless it has become insolvent).
- 12. Apply for the listing or trading of any shares in its issued capital or debt securities on any stock exchange or market.

Management of the business of the Company

- 13. Changing the Company's registered office.
- 14. Changing the Company's name.
- 15. Creating or agreeing to create a charge, security or Encumbrance over the Company's assets, shares or income.

- 16. Adopting or agreeing any changes to any remuneration and redundancy policies of employees of the Company.
- 17. Adopting or agreeing any changes to any pension arrangements of any employees or officers of the Company.
- 18. Changing the nature of the Business or commencing any new business which is not ancillary or incidental to the Business.
- 19. Agreeing to enter into or entering into any acquisition or disposal of any material assets by the Company.
- 20. Selling rights (by license or otherwise) in or over any intellectual property owned or used by the Company.
- 21. Changing the Company's auditors.
- 22. Agree to make or making any loan (otherwise than by way of a deposit with a bank or other institution, the normal business of which includes the acceptance of deposits or in the ordinary course of business) or granting any credit (other than in the normal course of trading or giving any guarantee (other than in the normal course of trading) or indemnity.
- 23. Changing the Financial Year End of the Company to anything other than the other than the Shareholder's financial year end.
- 24. Increase or reduce the amount of its issued share capital, grant any option or other interest over or in its share capital, redeem or purchase any of its own shares or otherwise alter, or effect any reorganisation of, its share capital.

ANNEX 6 – CHECKLIST FOR COMPANY SET UP

Set out below are the main items that should be completed as a new company is formed. This is in the form of a checklist to facilitate ease of understanding. Certain items may vary depending on the type of company and specifics in each case.

Completed	N/a	Item	Detail
		Business Case Completed	
		Business case approved	
		Staffing arrangements agreed	
		Naming logos etc agreed	
		URLs and Domains purchased	
		Cost recovery and recharging	
		agreements in place	
		Loan amount and agreement in	
		place	
		Directors Appointed	
		Company registered	
		Bank Account set up	
		Accountants appointed – inc VAT	
		Company secretary appointed	
		Shareholder representative	
		Appointed	
		Company Representative	
		Appointed	
		Website and email set up	
		Support arrangements from AVDC	
		clarified	
		Accountancy needs clarified	
		First scrutiny scheduled of business	
		plan	
		Launch Media in place and agreed	
		Registration with ICO if required	
		Others ?	

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank